Case No. 71941

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

ROSE, LLC,
Appellant,
vs.
TREASURE ISLAND, LLC,
Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Jul 25 2017 09:31 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable ELIZABETH GOFF GONZALEZ, District Judge
District Court Case No. A719105

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)
JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492)
ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200

Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTION

Rose, LLC appeals from a final judgment and an order awarding Treasure Island, LLC attorney's fees. NRAP 3A(b)(1), (8). Treasure Island served written notice of entry on January 11, 2017, and Rose timely amended its notice of appeal on January 17.¹ (*See* 5 App. 1058.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal, which involves a straightforward application of settled contract principles, is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(7).

ISSUE PRESENTED

To terminate a tenancy under a long-term lease, a landlord must first provide notice of default exactly as the written lease requires. Treasure Island tried to terminate Rose's 30-year lease after giving notice of default in a manner that violates the written lease as amended, contending that an alleged oral request from Rose's president controls over the written contract. Is the lease terminated?

¹ On December 7, 2016, Rose filed a premature notice of appeal from the district court's November 7 findings of fact and conclusions of law. (*See* 4 App. 977.) *See* NRAP 4(a)(6). The jurisdictional defect was resolved by the entry of a final judgment on January 11, 2017. (5 App. 1053.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered after a bench trial before the Honorable Elizabeth Goff Gonzalez, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County.

This case arises from Treasure Island LLC's attempt to terminate a lease with Rose, LLC after Rose missed a quarterly percentage-rent payment, one of the two types of rent. The parties' lease as amended requires Treasure Island to mail a notice of default to Rose's controller with a copy to Rose's sublessee, Señor Frog's, and to Señor Frog's counsel. Treasure Island never sent a notice of default to any of those people. Instead, Treasure Island sent a notice to Rose's president, allegedly at his oral request, with a purported e-mail copy to Rose's vice president. Treasure Island took no action in reliance on the oral request other than sending the notice, and Rose is now current in all rent payments.

After a bench trial, the district court decided the lease was terminated based on theories of oral modification, waiver, estoppel, actual notice, and substantial compliance with the lease. (4 App. 938 ¶¶ 1–2.) The district court barred Rose from asserting Treasure Island's failure

to copy Señor Frog's or its counsel and in fact blamed Rose for not forwarding the notice per the sublease. (4 App. 941 ¶ 3.) The district court also awarded Treasure Island attorney's fees. (5 App. 1048.)

Rose appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Treasure Island wants Rose, its tenant, out of a lease negotiated during a low point in the Las Vegas real-estate market. The market's rebound has made Rose's long-term lease unattractive to Treasure Island. To take advantage, Treasure Island purported to extinguish Rose's property rights by a hypertechnical application of the lease's default provision, even though Treasure Island did not comply with the notice requirement necessary to make a default effective.

A. Rose and Treasure Island Enter a Long-Term Lease

In 2011, Treasure Island agreed to lease strip-front space to Rose for 10 years, with options for another 20 years. (2 App. 270 § 2.3; *see also* 2 App. 311 § 1.) Rose in turn sublet space to Señor Frog's, a Mexican restaurant. (*See generally* 2 App. 317.)

The parties contract for a detailed notice of default

Proper notice and the opportunity to cure a default are integral parts of the lease. Failure to pay rent ripens into a default justifying termination only after a 10-day cure period following “Landlord’s written notice to Tenant”:

15.1 Events of Default. Tenant shall be deemed to be in default of this Lease if . . .

15.1.1 Tenant shall fail to pay any installment of Rent or any other amount or charge required to be paid by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, **and such failure continues for ten (10) days from Landlord’s written notice to Tenant** that any such Rent installment or other amount or charge is due

* * *

15.2 Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default . . .

15.2.1 Landlord may terminate this Lease and Tenant’s estate hereunder by written notice of such termination; provided, however that the mere giving by Landlord of a Notice to Pay (or perform) or a Notice to Quit shall not, of itself, constitute a notice of termination of this Lease

(2 App. 283 § 15.1.1, 2 App. 283–284 § 15.2.1 (emphasis added).)

“Notice” is “deemed to have been given” “to Tenant” only if addressed as specified in the lease, i.e., with copies both to Rose’s control-

ler, Susan Markusch, and to Operadora, the company operating the Señor Frog's restaurants:

19.6 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given by a party hereunder shall be in writing, and shall be deemed to have been given by such party to the other party or parties (a) on the date of personal delivery, (b) on the date delivered by a nationally recognized overnight courier service when deposited for overnight delivery, (c) on the next Business Day following any facsimile transmission to a party at its facsimile number set forth below; provided, however, such delivery is concurrent with delivery pursuant to the provisions of clauses (a), (b) or (d) of this Section 19.6, or (d) three (3) Business Days after being placed in the United States mail, as applicable, registered or certified, postage prepaid addressed **to the following addresses** (each of the parties **shall be entitled to specify a different address and/or contact person by giving notice as aforesaid**):

If to Landlord: Treasure Island, LLC
3300 Las Vegas Blvd., South
Las Vegas, NV 89109
Attn: Najam Khan
Facsimile: 702-894-7680
E-mail: nkhan@treasureisland.com

With a copy via facsimile to:
Brad Anthony, General Counsel
Facsimile: 702-894-7295
E-mail: banthony@treasureisland.com

If to Tenant: Rose, LLC
8301 E. Prentice Ave., Suite 210
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Attn: Susan Markusch

Facsimile: 303-221-5501
E-mail: susan@gdare.com

With a copy to:

Operadora Andersons S.A. de C.V
Boulevard Kukulkan km 14.2
Cancun, Mexico
C.P. 77500 Zona Hotelera

(2 App. 289–290 § 19.6 (emphasis added).) E-mail alone is not an acceptable delivery method. (2 App. 289–290 § 19.6; 2 App. 314 § 11.)

Rose’s president, Gary Dragul, testified that the designation of Ms. Markusch was critical because Mr. Dragul travels frequently and does not track the accounts of individual properties, while Ms. Markusch seldom travels and is responsible for monitoring and making payments on those accounts. (4 App. 860:16–24.)

The lease prohibits oral waivers and modifications

The lease is fully integrated (2 App. 290 § 19.7) and specifies that a waiver or modification must be in writing (2 App. 290 § 19.9), and that even then previous written waivers of nonconforming conduct do not excuse later nonconformance (2 App. 288 § 19.3, 2 App. 290 § 19.9):

19.3 Waiver of Rights. Failure to insist on compliance with any of the obligations and covenants hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of such agreements, obligations and covenants, nor shall any waiver or relinquishment of any right or power hereunder

at any one or more time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of such rights or powers at other times. Exercise of any right or remedy shall not impair Landlord's or Tenant's right to any other remedy.

* * *

19.9 Amendment, Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification, waiver or termination of this Lease shall be binding **unless executed in writing by both parties**. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Lease shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions (whether or not similar), **nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver** unless otherwise expressly provided.

(2 App. 288 § 19.3, 2 App. 290 § 19.9 (emphasis added).)

Treasure Island initially complied with that provision, mailing a letter on August 31, 2012 to the attention of Ms. Markusch, with a copy to Operadora (Señor Frog's). (1 App. 155.)

The parties amend their agreement to reinforce Rose's protection against default

Throughout their relationship, the parties followed the procedure for written waivers and modifications, as memorialized in five written amendments. (See 2 App. 299, 302, 307, 311.)

Rose and Señor Frog's eventually changed their relationship so that Rose could withdraw from operating the restaurant and remain as property manager, a shift reflected in the fifth amendment to the lease.

That amendment created a new section (2 App. 313–314 § 9) expressly for Señor Frog’s benefit so that it would have notice and the right to cure a default by Rose. In turn, the provision aimed to further safeguard Rose from an inadvertent default by assuring delivery of any notice of default to multiple individuals, each of whom had the ability to cure the default. The amended notice provision updated Rose’s street address and directed that “copies of notices sent to Tenant per the Lease shall also be sent to Subtenant . . . and to Subtenant’s counsel.” (2 App. 314 § 11 (emphasis added).)² In turn, Señor Frog’s under the sublease had the right to cure a default on Rose’s behalf. (2 App. 367, 1 App. 217–218.) Although the lease contemplates that the parties may “specify a different address and/or *contact person*” by giving written no-

² Below is the complete provision:

The Parties agree that for purposes of Section 19.6 of the Lease, Tenant’s notice address is updated to 5690 DTC Boulevard, Suite 515, Greenwood Village, CO 80111, and that copies of notices sent to Tenant per the Lease shall also be sent to Subtenant addressed to: Operadora Andersons S.A. de C.V, Boulevard Kukulcan km 14.2, Cancun, Mexico, C.P. 77500 Zona Hotelera, and to Subtenant’s counsel, addressed to: Ronald R. Fieldstone, Esq. and Susan Trench, Esq., Arnstein & Lehr LLP, 200 South Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 3600, Miami, Florida 33131.

tice (2 App. 289 § 19.6), the parties did not change the designation of Ms. Markusch as Rose’s “contact person” for official notice. (2 App. 314 § 11).; 3 App. 678:16–19 (Mr. Anthony admits no written waiver of notice to Ms. Markusch).)

The strengthened notice was central to the bargain Rose struck with Treasure Island. In consideration for Rose’s additional layer of protection against a default, Rose released Treasure Island from its obligation under the original lease to conduct the famous pirate show. (2 App. 312, § 7 (deleting Lease § 17.1(e)).)

The fifth amendment, too, contains a nonwaiver clause and an integration clause superseding prior agreements:

[9(d).] This Agreement . . . (c) constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto concerning its subject matter except as outlined herein; and, (d) may not be modified except in writing signed by both parties or by their respective successors in interest.

* * *

10. Except as otherwise set forth herein or in any other applicable instruments as outlined in [the new section³] of the Agreement as amended, the terms and

³ The provision refers to “Section 20(c),” but that is likely a typo, as that specific subsection does not refer to the sublease or “any other applicable instruments.” The provision should probably just read “Section 20,” whose other subsections do reference the sublease.

conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

(2 App. 314 §§ 9(d), 10.)

B. Treasure Island Tries to Terminate the Lease

Over time, the neighboring retail space became more valuable.

Although Rose now pays approximately \$56 per square foot in base rent and quarterly percentage rent, CVS next door pays as much as \$400 per square foot. (3 App. 736:8–9, 3 App. 738:20–739:1.)

Treasure Island sends a notice of default that does not comply with the written lease

One overdue quarterly percentage-rent payment gave Treasure Island the chance to pounce. On May 14, 2015, Treasure Island’s general counsel mailed Mr. Dragul a letter asserting that Rose missed a quarterly rent payment and advising that “if you do not pay in full within 10 days of the date of this letter, you will be in default.” (2 App. 430; 1 App. 172.) The letter did not dispute that Rose had timely paid its base rent. (*Id.*) The letter stated that Elizabeth Gold, Rose’s vice president, was copied via e-mail, but she received no such e-mail, and none was ever produced. (*Id.*; 4 App. 910:19–23.)⁴ The letter was *not* sent to Ms.

⁴ Mr. Anthony also claimed that Ms. Gold called him the day after no-

Markusch, the person designated under the lease to receive such notices for Rose, nor to anyone representing Señor Frog's. (3 App. 679:23–680:2.)

From Treasure Island's standpoint, the improperly addressed letter was a success. The letter purported to start the clock for a default at a time Mr. Dragul and most of his staff were actually at a convention in Las Vegas, not receiving mail at Rose's office in Colorado. (2 App. 375–376, ¶¶ 21–25.) In addition, Mr. Dragul faced a family medical emergency: he had to care for his seriously ill sister and brother who were in the hospital for spinal-cord procedures. (4 App. 769:1–770:4.) Treasure Island's general manager did not mention the alleged default when he spoke with Mr. Dragul at a dinner at Señor Frog's on May 16. (2 App. 375–376, ¶¶ 21–24; 3 App. 725:17–21, 4 App. 772:21–773:10.) Ms. Markusch was one of the few staff members left in Colorado to receive mail and would have seen the notice had it been addressed to her attention. (4 App. 876:1–22.) Treasure Island designed its deadline for payment to expire the Sunday before Memorial Day. (2 App. 430.)

tice was sent, but the substance of that conversation was inadmissible hearsay. (3 App. 661 at 79.)

Treasure Island sends a notice of termination and files suit

Treasure Island immediately exploited Rose’s inaction on the improperly addressed letter to develop a direct leasing relationship with Señor Frog’s. Two weeks after the letter, Treasure Island’s counsel sent a termination letter to Mr. Dragul, again without copying Ms. Markusch. (2 App. 432; 1 App. 200.) That letter, however, was properly copied to Señor Frog’s operator and its counsel. (*Id.*) David Krouham, the president and CEO of Señor Frog’s licensor, testified that he would have flown to Las Vegas “personally to cure the alleged breach and default through cash payments” had proper notice been given. (2 App. 369, ¶ 28; *accord* 3 App. 648:15–22.) The letter also invited Señor Frog’s counsel to “enter into negotiations for a new leasing agreement.” (2 App. 432.)

Treasure Island had already engaged outside counsel to prepare a complaint for breach of lease and declaratory relief, which it filed that same day. (1 App. 1.)

Rose learns of the default and attempts to cure

After Mr. Krouham called to alert Mr. Dragul to the termination letter, Rose immediately and repeatedly attempted to pay in full. On

May 29, 2015, Rose attempted a wire transfer. (2 App. 376, ¶¶ 28; 2 App. 460–461.) When Treasure Island refused the transfer, Rose attempted again on June 3. (2 App. 460–461.) That same day, when Treasure Island again refused, Rose overnighted a cashier’s check. (*Id.* at 2 App. 462.) Treasure Island refused again. (*Id.* at 2 App. 468–470.) Treasure Island eventually accepted payment with the district court’s permission. (1 App. 88.) Rose is now current in its rent payments. (3 App 661:25–662:1; 728:17–23.) Treasure Island suffered no damages (*see* 5 App. 1053), but the campaign to oust Rose from Treasure Island’s plans for the property has continued unabated.

C. The District Court Declares the Lease Terminated

After a bench trial, the district court entered a declaratory judgment terminating the lease based on the alleged 2012 oral modification, estoppel, waiver, actual notice, and substantial compliance. (4 App. 938 ¶ 2; 5 App. 1043.)

The district court finds an oral modification of the notice provision

Despite that the parties established a pattern of amending the lease in writing—on October 10, 2011; December 22, 2011; April 20,

2012; April 18, 2013; and April 30, 2014—the district court found that about two years *before* the fifth amendment, Mr. Dragul orally told Treasure Island’s general counsel to send “all future correspondences dealing with the Treasure Island-Rose relationship directly and only to him.” (4 App. 933 ¶ 10.)⁵ Mr. Dragul disputes that he waived any right to notice under the lease. (4 App. 762:18–763:16.) And Treasure Island’s general counsel conceded that the conversation involved Rose’s repayment of a construction loan, not a pre-termination notice of default. (3 App. 686:15–23; 1 App. 162–63.)

The district court found that the only “detriment” Treasure Island suffered in reliance on the alleged oral modification was its having sent “the notice to the attention [of] Mr. Dragul instead of Ms. Markusch.” (4 App. 939–940 ¶ 2(B).)

⁵ The district court prejudged the evidence for its conclusion, serving up a “when did you stop beating your wife?” interrogative of its own:

Did you ever tell Mr. Anthony you wanted him to go back to the original notice *after you told him you only wanted him to send them to you?*”

(4 App. 821:15–20 (emphasis added).)

The district court precludes Rose from raising the lack of notice to Señor Frog’s

Although the written lease as amended requires notice “to Tenant” to include a copy to Señor Frog’s and its counsel, the district ignored that requirement. The district court held that because Señor Frog’s was not a party to this case, Rose could not rely on the provision requiring notice to Señor Frog’s and its counsel. (4 App. 941 ¶ 3.)

The district court rewrites the parties’ agreement

The district court decided that it was enough that Treasure Island had addressed the notice to Rose’s president and allegedly copied Ms. Gold in an e-mail. (4 App. 936 ¶¶ 31–36.) The court assumed that notice to the contracted-for individuals and entities was unnecessary because “Ms. Gold was the person who signed all of the contracts in this matter” (4 App. 935 ¶ 23).

The district court finds that Ms. Markusch received notice

The district court in passing asserts that Ms. Markusch received notice. (4 App. 940–941 ¶ 2(D).) The only basis for such a claim was counsel’s argument that Ms. Markusch had attempted to mail a partial payment, but no letter or check was ever produced or admitted into evidence. (4 App. 869:1–10.) Mr. Dragul explained that such a payment, if

one had been made, would be consistent with Ms. Markusch's own discovery of the omitted payment and sending what she calculated to be the percentage rent. (4 App. 870:8–13.) Given the complexity of calculation and the frequency of disagreement, it is likely that if Ms. Markusch had sent such a check it would not match the amount demanded in Treasure Island's notice of default. (*See generally* 4 App. 855:9–856:25.) Treasure Island did not call Ms. Markusch to testify, and no one from Treasure Island testified to having received anything from Ms. Markusch.

The district court enters judgment against Rose

Based on these court's findings and legal interpretations, the court judgment against Rose, declaring the lease terminated. (4 App. 938–941 ¶ 2; 5 App. 1043.) The court found that Rose breached its duty to provide Señor Frog's a copy of the May 14 default notice. (4 App. 937 ¶¶ 40–41.)

The court dismissed as moot Treasure Island's claims for breach of lease and denied Rose's counterclaims under the lease. (5 App. 1053.)

The district court awarded Treasure Island \$126,000 in attorney's fees under the lease. (*See* 5 App. 1048; 2 App. 291 § 19.14.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Courts interpret contracts. They should not write them.

This case is in part about a notice of default under a lease—the legal doctrines that entitle long-term tenants to rely on written notice requirements, the equitable doctrines that make landlords strictly comply with those requirements, and the law’s general aversion to forfeitures. But this case is also about power⁶—the power of private parties to negotiate tailored protections for themselves and others, the power of those contracting parties to enforce those protections, and the power of the judiciary to second-guess the bargain the parties struck.

Here, the district court did not merely err in the application of correct legal principles or even apply the wrong principles. The district court asserted power it does not have, telling Rose that the safeguards it secured through contract are unnecessary—even though the facts of this case demonstrate precisely why Rose needed them.

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