## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROSE, LLC, a Nevada Limited	Electronically Filed ) Supreme Court 07/1925 2017 02:08 p.m.
Liability Company,	) District Case NElizaqeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,	ĺ.
v.	) )
TREASURE ISLAND, LLC, a Nevada	)
Limited Liability Company,	)
Respondents	) ) )

# RESPONDENT TREASURE ISLAND LLC'S ANSWERING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC	FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.
Mark A. Hutchison (4639)	Patrick J. Sheehan (3812)
Michael K. Wall (2098)	Steven M. Silva (12492)
10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200	300 S. Fourth St., 14th Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145	Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorneys for Respondent	Attorneys for Respondent

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Rose ignores that the context of *Hardy Cos*. is not analogous to this case, and that strict compliance would result in the forfeiture of Treasure Island's rights

in this case, which would be a result unfair to Treasure Island for the sole purpose of rescuing Rose from its own malfeasance. For Rose, strict compliance by Treasure Island with the notice provisions of the lease should be required to protect Rose's rights, but strict compliance with the lease should not be required of Rose in favor of Treasure Island, again, to protect Rose's rights. Such an argument would excuse the untimely payment of rent and every other tenant default in every case, to the extreme prejudice of landlords. The landlord's contracted for interests in the obligations of the lease are no less valuable to the landlord than are the leasehold interests to the lessee.

In truth, the issue in this case is not about strict construction of the lease's notice provisions. If it were, the fifth amendment removed the requirement of notice to Markusch, strictly speaking, and so Rose's argument is hoisted on its own petard. Treasure Island would never suggest that the obligation in the lease to give effective notice should not be enforced. And in cases such as those relied on by Rose, where the failure to comply with contractual notice provisions resulted in failure of notice, strict compliance with the contract (*i.e.*, strict compliance with the substantive requirement to give notice, not strict compliance with some irrelevant technicality), may be the proper remedy, depending on the circumstances. But the foreign caselaw relied on by Rose does not support the

proposition that an injustice should be perpetrated in the name of equity every time a recalcitrant lessee can find that a lessor failed to dot an I or cross a t.

Especially when the lessee is simply wrong in his assertion that the notice requirement was not met.

In this case, the lease required notice. The provision setting forth the addresses for notices was not the notice provision. The substantive provision was that notice and a period for cure would be given to the tenant.<sup>21</sup> Rose was unquestionably given notice and a period for cure, as required by the lease. The provision stating the person to whose attention the notice was to be addressed was administrative in nature. Notice was given to and received by Rose. The record admits of no other interpretation. Rose's post-breach assertion that the attention line of the address was a substantive right for which it bargained is as ludicrous as it is over-played.

Even if the attention line in the address were to be considered substantive in nature, that line was not included when the lease was amended. There is no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The lease provides: "15.1 Tenant shall be deemed to be in default of this Lease if . . . 15.1.1 Tenant shall fail to pay any installment of Rent or any other amount or charge required to be paid by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and such failure continues for ten (10) days from Landlord's written notice to Tenant that any such Rent installment or other amount or charge is due." 1 AA 139.

Dragul's subjective opinion that the person was not changed is contradicted by the documents: A second address was substituted for the first, with no requirement (consistent with the practice of the parties) that notice be sent to Markusch, or any other particular person. The district court found that the notice was compliant with the lease and amendment, and that Rose was precluded from arguing that it was not. Each basis relied on by the district court for the conclusion that the notice given was sufficient under the circumstances of this case is supported by substantial evidence in the record, and each is independently sufficient to support the decision.

# III. The District Court Did Not Err in Finding that the Notice Substantially Complied with The Lease and the Amendment.

The district court concluded that "Treasure Island substantially complied with any notice obligations to Rose." 4 AA 941, ¶E (relying on *Hardy Cos. v. SNM4RK, LLC*, 126 Nev. 523, 536 (Nev. 2010) (substantial compliance with notice provisions is met when the owner has actual knowledge and is not prejudiced.")). The district court found that "Rose had actual knowledge of the notice and the opportunity to cure the default during the ten-day notice period."

Id.<sup>22</sup> Rose has not cited any case authority for the specific proposition that a notice requirement must be strictly complied with as to the specific individual who is supposed to be on the attention line when both the principal person entitled to notice and the individual designated to receive notice had actual notice, and there was nothing substantively wrong with the content of the notice, nor can they. Thus, the district court did not err in applying a substantial compliance standard to the specific issue presented by this case. Cf. U.S. Bank National Association on behalf of Holders of Home, So.3d (Fla. D. Ct. App. Fla. 2017) (2017WL2272285) (in forfeiture of home case, substantial compliance with a notice provision was sufficient); Lopez v JP Morgan Chase Bank 187 So. 3d 343, 345 (Fla. Dist. D Ct. App. Fla. 2016) (holding in forfeiture case, "substantial compliance or performance is performance of a contract which, while not full performance, is so nearly equivalent to what is bargained for that it would be unreasonable to deny the promisee the benefit of the bargain.").<sup>23</sup>

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ The district court made multiple findings that Rose obtained actual notice of the default. 4 AA 935 ¶¶ 27 through 38. These findings are supported by substantial evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Making a "good for the goose, good for the gander" argument, Rose asserts that it substantially complied with its obligation to pay rent when it tendered the rent after the lease had been terminated. AOB 62. Rose labels its failure to pay rent a "technicality." AOB 63. The failure to pay rent can hardly be equated with the failure to include a name on the attention line of an address on a

Further, courts have rejected strict compliance notice arguments where the evidence is clear that actual notice was given. See Stonehenge Land, Co. v. Beazer Homes Investments, LLC., 893 N.E. 2d 855, 863 (Ohio Ct. App. 2008) ("Where there is evidence of actual notice, technical deviation from a contractual notice requirement will not bar the action for breach of contract brought against a party that had actual notice."); Polizzotto v. D'Agostino, 129 So. 534, 536 (La. 1930) ("[M]ere informalities do not violate notice as long as they do not mislead, and give the necessary information to the proper party."); Bd. of Comm'rs v. Turner Marine Bulk, Inc., 629 So. 2d 1278, 1283 (La. Ct. App. 1993) ("Where adequate notice is in fact given and its receipt is not contested, technicalities of form may be overlooked."). In this case, Rose received actual notice and suffered no harm even if the notice was technically deficient because it was not addressed to the attention of Markusch and was not sent to Operadora.

Rose cannot show prejudice from the notice being sent to Dragul (and Gold) instead of Markusch. Rose received the notice but chose not to cure. The Nevada

notice, especially where the latest version of the lease did not require that name to be in the address. The entire argument is based on the false assertion that Rose attempted payment immediately upon learning of the default. Of course, the evidence demonstrates that Rose knew of the default but made no attempt to cure until after termination of the lease. If the premise is false, the conclusion will not be correct.

Supreme Court recently stated (in another context) that "[s]trict compliance does not mean absurd compliance." *Einhorn v. BAC Home Loan Servicing, LP*, 128 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 290 P3.d 249, 254 (Adv. Op. 61, 2012). It would be absurd to invalidate Treasure Island's notice because it was not sent attention Markusch.

# IV. The District Court Did Not Err in Determining That Rose Cannot Claim the Notice of Default Was Not Sent to the Proper Parties.

### A. The Notice Provision of the Lease was Orally Amended.

The district court found that "the parties agreed that any further notices would be sent solely to Dragul." 4 AA 934 ¶ 13. Although Dragul denied he had given that instruction, the district court was free to rely on the more credible testimony of Anthony (and the supporting trial exhibits) that the instruction was both given by Dragul and followed by Treasure Island without complaint for a period of years. See Trial Testimony, set forth supra. As a result, the district court found as a matter of law that the parties had orally modified the lease. See Joseph F. Sanson Inv. Co. v. Cleland, 97 Nev. 141, 142, 625 P.2d 566, 567 (1981) ("[P]arties to a written contract may orally modify it and parol evidence of the subsequent agreement is not summarily excluded . . . . Silver Dollar Club v. Cosgriff Neon, 80 Nev. 108, 389 P.2d 923 (1964); Holland v. Crummer Corp., 78 Nev. 1, 368 P.2d 63 (1962).").

Rose argues that because there was a merger clause, stating the contract could only be modified in writing, the oral modification is not enforceable.

However, as noted by the court in *Silver Dollar Club*, oral modifications are allowed despite provisions stating that the contract can only be modified in writing. In *Silver Dollar*, the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

Parties may change, add to, and totally control what they did in the past. They are wholly unable by any contractual action in the present to limit or control what they may have wished to do contractually in the future. Even where they include in the written contract an express provision that it can only be modified or discharged by a subsequent agreement in writing, nevertheless their later oral agreement to modify or discharge the written contract is both provable and effective to do so."

Id. at 111, 924 (citing Simpson on Contracts, Section 63 at 228).

Rose argues, nevertheless, that the oral modification is void because of the statute of frauds. That argument is without merit. First, the argument was not raised before the district court. It was not included in Rose's trial brief, it was not raised by counsel at the trial (including opening and closing arguments), and it was not raised at any pretrial hearing. Therefore, it cannot be raised on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 623 P2d 981 (1981).

Further, the oral modification does not concern any substantive part of the "lease or sale of any lands." NRS 111.210. It concerns only an administrative

provision regarding the address to be included on a notice of default. Thus, the oral amendment does not itself implicate any statute of frauds issue. See Tri-Pac. Commercial Brokerage, Inc. v. Boreta, 113 Nev. 203, 206, 931 P.2d 726, 728 (1997) ("Pursuant to NRS 111.220, the substantial parts of the contract must be embodied in writing with such a degree of certainty so as to make clear and definite the intention of the parties without resorting to oral evidence." (citing Stanley v. Levy & Zentner Co., 60 Nev. 432, 446, 112 P.2d 1047, 1053 (1941) and quoting Restatement of Contracts § 207 (1932)). Rose has not cited and cannot cite any caselaw for the proposition that a minor agreement (itself not subject to the statute of frauds) regarding the person to whom a notice is to be sent cannot be entered into between the parties because the substantive portions of the lease are subject to the statute of frauds. Instead, in characteristic style, Rose cites and relies on secondary authorities and string cites for general propositions of law inapplicable to the facts of this case.

In addition, there was part performance (Treasure Island's future notices were sent to the attention of Gary Dragul after the modification without objection), and there are writings indicating that the agreement was made (notices and letters that were not sent to Susan Markusch). Further, estoppel takes the issue out of the statute of frauds (as found by the district court and discussed, *infra*). *See* 

Schreiber v. Schreiber, 99 Nev. 453, 663 P.2d 1189 (1983) (part performance and estoppel takes issue out of statute of frauds).

# B. Rose is Estopped From Asserting that Notice to Dragul Does Not Satisfy the Lease and Amendment.

The District Court correctly ruled that Rose is estopped from arguing that the notice of default should have been sent to Markusch. Prior to Dragul's conversation where he told Anthony to send all future notices to his attention instead of Markusch's attention, Anthony sent Treasure Island's notices attention Markusch. After the conversation, Anthony relied on Dragul's request and sent all future notices to Dragul.<sup>24</sup>

Equitable estoppel consists of the following elements: (1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of the true facts, (2) that party must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon or must so act that the party asserting estoppel has the right to believe it was so intended, (3) the party asserting estoppel must be ignorant of the true state of the facts, and (4) the party asserting estoppel must have detrimentally relied on the other party's conduct.

Las Vegas Convention & Visitors Auth. v. Miller, 124 Nev. 669, 698, 191 P.3d 1138, 1157 (2008); see Torres v. Nev. Direct Ins. Co., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 353 P.3d 1203, 1209 (2015) (quoting Pink v. Busch, 100 Nev. 684, 689, 691 P.2d 456,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The same is true of the requirement to copy notices to Operadora. Prior notices were copied to Operadora, but after Dragul instructed that notice should not be copied on Operadora, notices were sent to Dragul only.

459 (1984)).

In arguing that the district court erred in estopping Dragul from denying his instruction and practice regarding notices, Rose ignores that the law abhors fraud and falsehood. More than a hundred years ago, the United States Supreme Court declared the equitable principles underlying the estoppel doctrine in *Dickerson v. Colgrove*, 100 U.S. 578, 580 (1879). Those principles have withstood the test of time. The High Court stated:

The vital principle is that he who by his language or conduct leads another to do what he would not otherwise have done, shall not subject such person to loss or injury by disappointing the expectations upon which he acted. Such a change of position is sternly forbidden. It involves fraud and falsehood, and the law abhors both. This remedy is always so applied as to promote the ends of justice.

There is no rule more necessary to enforce good faith than that which compels a person to abstain from asserting claims which he has induced others to suppose he would not rely on. The rule does not rest on the assumption that he has obtained any personal gain or advantage, but on the fact that he has induced others to act in such a manner that they will be seriously prejudiced if he is allowed to fail in carrying out what he has encouraged them to expect.

*Id.* at 580-81 (citations and internal punctuation omitted).

In this case Dragul instructed that notices be sent to him, and accepted such notice for years without complaint. The district court properly prevented Dragul from deciding, after the fact and in order to escape the consequences of his own

breach of the lease, that he no longer wanted notices sent to him alone, to the extreme detriment of Treasure Island.

The "true fact" at issue here is that Dragul asked Anthony to provided notice only to him. Dragul, the party to be estopped, was aware of this true fact, establishing element number one. Dragul intended that Anthony act on his direction, and acted in a manner that confirmed his intent to Anthony, establishing the second element. Anthony did not know that Dragul did not intend to have notice come to him only, and the sophistry that the fifth amendment somehow notified Anthony that Dragul's instruction was no longer in effect is specious. Finally, Treasure Island acted on Dragul's instructions, to its detriment if its lease rights are forfeited because Dragul denies that notice was given as instructed. The district court found facts to support each of these conclusions, and those findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Focusing on what Treasure Island knew, rather than what Dragul knew, and twisting the standard, Rose argues that the elements of estoppel are not present in this case. But Rose does so only by ignoring the district court's findings of fact. The district court found that Rose was aware that Treasure Island was not sending notices to the attention of Markusch after Dragul instructed Anthony to send all notices only to him. Rose accepted the notices without complaint, demonstrating

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